Z» Earth Negotiations Bulletlw

A Reportl ng Service for Environment and Devel opment Negotiations
Onlineat http://www.iisd.ca/unepgc/ieg3/

Vol. 16 No. 18

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development

Wednesday, 12 September 2001

SUMMARY OF THE THIRD OPEN-ENDED
INTERGOVERNMENTAL GROUPOFMINISTERS
OR THEIR REPRESENTATIVESON
INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL
GOVERNANCE: 9-10 SEPTEMBER 2001

The third meeting of the Open-ended Intergovernmental Group of
Ministers or their Representatives on International Environmental
Governance (IGM-3) was convened in Algiers, Algeria, on 9-10
September 2001. Over 250 participantsfrom 92 countries, including
over 20 ministers, werein attendance.

Participants wereinvited to consider arevised report on Interna-
tional Environmental Governance by the Executive Director of the
United Nations Environment Programme and the Proposal's of the
President of the UNEP Governing Council, David Anderson, which
delegatesreferred to asthe “ building blocks” document on IEG. The
proposed “building blocks” are: improving coherencein policy
making —therole and structure of the Global Ministerial Environment
Forum; strengthening therole, authority, and financial situation of
UNEP; improved coordination and coherence between multilateral
environmental agreements (MEASs); and enhanced coordination
acrossthe UN system —therol e of the Environmental M anagement
Group. The G-77/Chinaintroduced new “building block” proposals
for consideration, including a sustainable devel opment framework,
capacity building and technol ogy transfer, and finance. Participants
made substantive progressin identifying areas of convergence and
disagreement, directed the UNEP Secretariat to provide further elabo-
ration on anumber of issues, and agreed on the next stepsfor the prep-
aration of aframework text for negotiation at IGM-4inMontreal, in
December 2001.

Participants also addressed, inter alia, apossiblerolefor the
Global Ministerial Environment Forum (GM EF) asa cornerstone of
International Environmental Governance (IEG), enhancing synergies
and cooperation across MEAswhile avoiding the creation of new
institutions, the need for stable and predictable financing for UNEP,
and therole of the Environment Management Group (EMG) in
enhancing cooperation in the UN system.

Unresolved issuesinclude the preci se status of the UNEP
Governing Council/GMEF and proposalsfor itsenhanced rolein
providing guidanceto MEA secretariats, approachesto the clustering
of MEAS, including sectoral and functional clustering arrangements,
optionsfor enhanced funding arrangementsfor UNEP, and delineating
the relationship between the | EG agendaand sustai nable devel op-
ment.

Delighted at its outcome and achievements, parti cipants reported
that IGM-3 had charted a course that would steer negotiationsto a
speedy conclusion, possibly asearly asIGM-4in Montreal .

A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE INTERNATIONAL
ENVIRONMENTAL GOVERNANCE PROCESS

ThelEG processwasinitiated in decision 21/20 of the UNEP
Governing Council that providesfor the further strengthening of
UNEP, and decision 21/21, on international environmental gover-
nance. Decision 21/21 callsfor acomprehensive policy-oriented
assessment of existing institutional weaknesses, aswell asfuture
needs and optionsfor strengthened governance, including the
financing of UNEP.

INTHISISSUE
A Brief History of the International Environmental
GovernanCeProCesS. . .. ..o v 1
ReportoftheMeeting. .. ...t 2
OpeningPlenary ..., 2
Further Consideration of Issuesin International
Environmental Governance. .. ......... ... ... 3
WorkingGroup | . ... 5
Working Group Il ... 6
Plenary. . ... 7
ClosingPlenary .. ... 8
A Brief Analysisof IGM-3. .. ... o o 8
Thingsto Look for BeforetheWSSD .................. 9

Thisissue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Peter Doran <peter@iisd.org> and Wagaki Mwangi <wagaki@iisd.org>. The Digital
Editor isAndrei Henry <andrei @iisd.org>. The Operations Manager is Marcela Rojo <marcela@iisd.org> and the On-Line Assistant is Diego Noguera <diego@iisd.org>. The
Editor isPamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Director of 11SD Reporting Servicesis Langston James "Kimo" Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors
of the Bulletin are the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the United States (through USAID), the Swiss Agency for
Environment, Forests and Landscape (SAEFL), the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Devel opment -DfID, and the Foreign & Commonwealth Office),
the European Commission (DG-ENV), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and the Government of Germany (through the German Federal Ministry of Environment - BMU,
and the German Federal Ministry of Development Cooperation - BMZ). General Support for the Bulletin during 2001 is provided by the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and
Environment of Finland, the Government of Australia, the Ministry of Environment and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Sweden, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade of
New Zealand, the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Norway, Swan International, and the Japan Environment Agency (through the Institute for Global
Environmental Strategies—IGES). The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail at <enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. |1SD can be contacted by e-
mail at <info@iisd.ca>and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y 4, Canada. The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of
theauthorsand do not necessarily reflect the viewsof 11SD and other funders. Excerptsfrom the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be usedin non-commercial publicationsonly and
only with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use this materia in commercial publications, contact the Director of 11SD Reporting Services. Electronic versions of
the Bulletin are sent to e-mail distribution listsand can be found on the LinkagesWWW server at http://www.iisd.ca. The satelliteimage wastaken above Bonn ©2001 The Living
Earth, Inc. http:/livingearth.com. For information on the Earth Negotiations Bulletin or to arrange coverage of a meeting, conference or workshop, send e-mail to the Director,
11SD Reporting Servicesat <kimo@iisd.org>.




Wednesday, 12 September 2001

Vol. 16 No. 18 Page 2

The background to decision 21/21 includes anumber of key events
in UNEP sdevelopment. The 1997 Nairobi Declaration was adopted
by the UNEP Governing Council and endorsed by the UN General
Assembly, and established UNEP asthe “principal UN body in the
field of the environment.” The 1998 Task Force on Environment and
Human Settlements appointed by the UN Secretary-General withinthe
overall reform effort of “Renewing the United Nations’ recommended
the establishment of an EM G to improve interagency coordination,
including conventionsin its mandate, and the creation of aGMEF.

MALMO MINISTERIAL DECLARATION: Thefirst meeting
of the GMEF, held in Sweden in May 2000, adopted the Mamd Minis-
terial Declaration, which focused on areas such as the major environ-
mental challenges of the 21st century and agreed that the 2002 World
Summit on Sustainable Devel opment should review the requirements
for agreatly strengthened institutional structurefor international envi-
ronmental governance. In thisregard, it concluded that UNEP'srole
wasto be strengthened and its financial base broadened.

FIRST MEETING OF THE OPEN-ENDED INTERGOV-
ERNMENTAL GROUP OF MINISTERS (IGM-1): Thismeeting,
convened on 18 April 2001, at UN Headquartersin New York and
attended by 93 countries, was chaired by Canadian Environment
Minister David Anderson, whois current President of the UNEP
Governing Council and IGM Chair. Participants reached consensuson
anumber of issues, including the need to, inter alia: better defineinter-
national environmental governance; review international environ-
mental governance within the context of sustainable devel opment;
involve ministers outside environment ministries; strengthen UNEP
and ensure more predictable funding; make better use of existing struc-
tures, including the coordination and clustering of multilateral envi-
ronmental agreements; involve stakeholders; and ensure the effective
participation of developing countries.

EXPERT CONSULTATIONSON INTERNATIONAL ENVI-
RONMENTAL GOVERNANCE: Convened in accordance with
UNEP decision 21/21, this expert consultation was held in Cambridge,
UK, on 28-29 May 2001. Discussionswere held on thefuturerole of
the UNEP in relation to sustainabl e devel opment and on the financial
constraintsthat hinder UNEP from meeting its goals. The meeting
noted that any discussion on UNEP being converted into aspecialized
agency was premature, and identified three pressing issues concerning
IEG: clustering of MEAS, the multi-layering of governance, and the
need to look beyond environmental governance.

SECOND MEETING OF THE OPEN-ENDED INTERGOV -
ERNMENTAL GROUP OF MINISTERS (IGM-2): Thisone-day
meeting was held in Bonn, Germany, on 17 July 2001, and was chaired
by Karen Redman (Canada) on behalf of IGM Chair David Anderson.
The purpose of the meeting wasto offer input to the Governing
Council Bureau, which could be used to inform substantive delibera-
tionsat IGM-3. The meeting noted that: aproliferation of meetingshad
contributed to aloss of policy coherence and areduced impact of the
limited resources avail able; thereis aneed to support international
sustai nable devel opment governance and a strong role for the EMG;
civil society participation in the processisimportant; and thereisa
need to take into account the principle of common but differentiated
responsibilities. Other issuesincluded interest in someform of MEA
clustering and the need for stable funding for UNER, possibly through
the use of the UN system of assessed contributions.

The|EG process has also benefited from two consultative civil
soci ety organization (CSO) meetingsheld in Nairobi, Kenya, in May
and August 2001. It has also benefited from input by the Nairobi
Committee of Permanent Representatives (CPR).

REPORT OF THE MEETING

IGM-3wasofficially opened on Sunday, 9 September. Following a
brief consideration of organizational mattersand the presentation of
the UNEP Executive Director’sreport, del egates dedi cated the rest of
the day to general debate on theissue of international environmental
governance, based on the“building blocks’ proposals prepared IGM
Chair Anderson. On Monday, 10 September, amorning session was
given over to anin-depth consideration of these proposalsin two
working groups. Theworking groups presented their reportsat a
reconvened Plenary in the afternoon. Following brief debate, del egates
adopted the reports and considered next steps, following which IGM-3
was officially closed by Algeria’'s Prime Minister Ali Benflis.

OPENING PLENARY

Algerian Environment Minister Cherif Rahmani opened the
Plenary, welcomed participantsto | GM -3 and introduced the President
of Algeria.

In hisopening remarks, Governing Council President David
Anderson thanked the government and people of Algeriafor hosting
the meeting. He said International Environmental Governanceis
emerging as one of the principal topicsfor consideration at the World
Summit on Sustainable Development (WSSD) to be held in South
Africain September 2002. He noted that the presence of President
Bouteflikaaugured well for the future of |EG.

In hisopening address, Algerian President Bouteflika highlighted
factors hindering effective implementation of the UNCED agreements
including, inter alia, poverty, consumption and production patterns,
and macro-economic constraints. He called for: effortsto make MEAs
more demaocratic; integration of the environment into economic and
social concerns; support for a Southern NGO meeting to be hosted by
Algeriain October 2001; and areconstitution of the UNEP Environ-
ment Fund.

After abrief adjournment, Plenary reconvened. Chair Anderson
recalled progressto datein the IEG deliberations and said he results of
the assessment areto be integrated into areport to the GM EF/Seventh
Special Session of the Governing Council of UNEP, scheduled to take
placein Cartagena, Colombia, in February 2002, and whichis
expected to adopt and possibly transmit the resultsfrom the IGM meet-
ingsto thethird Preparatory Committee of the WSSD. Anderson said
that proposals from other stakeholderswould give additional clout to
the deliberations.

Sharing his own perspective on thework of IGM-3, Anderson
invited participantsto reach a consensus on aframework for the prepa-
ration of an agreed text, identifying as many areas of convergence as
possible. Heindicated that fine-tuning could take place during the
inter-sessional period leading up to IGM-4. Chair Anderson also drew
attention to questionscircul ated before IGM-3 by the UNEP Executive
Director.

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA: Chair Anderson presented the
provisional agenda (UNEP/IGM/3/1), which delegates adopted
without comment.



Vol. 16 No. 18 Page 3

Wednesday, 12 September 2001

ORGANIZATION OF WORK: Recalling that previous |GM
meetings have followed UNEP Governing Council Rules of Proce-
dure, Anderson proposed using the same procedure. He outlined his
proposalsfor the conduct of aPlenary session moderated by Amb.
Rall Estrada (Argentina) followed, the next day, by amorning of
working group sessions, and aclosing Plenary in the afternoon. Dele-
gates adopted the procedural proposals.

FURTHER CONSIDERATION OF ISSUESIN
INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL GOVERNANCE

PROPOSALSOF THE PRESIDENT OF THE UNEP
GOVERNING COUNCIL: Chair Anderson introduced his* building
blocks” proposalson |EG (UNEP/IGM/3/CRP.1), which he said
capture the essence of converging opinions as expressed at the two
previous | GM meetings and enjoysthe full support of the Bureau of
the UNEP Governing Council. He said the paper identifies key pres-
suresand imperatives for improving |EG and the key challengesin the
short-, medium- and long terms, while recognizing that thereisno
single“silver bullet” solution. One section identifies possible actions
to address key weaknessesin the existing | EG architecture: improving
coherencein environmental policy making through the GMEF;
strengthening the role, authority and finances of UNEP; improving the
coherence of MEAS; and enhancing coordination within and acrossthe
UN system.

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR: UNEP Execu-
tive Director Klaus Topfer presented hisrevised Report on |EG
(UNEP/IGM/3/2). Topfer said in addition to GM EF contributions,
input into his*“living document” has been received fromthe EM G,
MEA secretariats, UNEP's Committee of Permanent Representatives
(CPR), NGOs and an expert meeting on | EG. Noting that thiswasthe
first timethe | GM was convening specifically to discussIEG, heurged
delegates not only to exchange views, but also to find solutions.

GENERAL DEBATE: Inthe ensuing discussion, many del egates
expressed appreciation for the Executive Director’s Report and
supported Minister Anderson’s“building blocks’ proposals, which
some suggested was agood basisfor negotiations.

Iran, on behalf of the G-77/China, noted that deliberationson |[EG
have entered acritical stage and drew attentionto G-77/China-
commissioned research papersfrom the Third World Network and the
South Center. He highlighted anumber of points, including the need
to: maintain the linkage between environment and devel opment;
approach | EG through the lens of sustainable development; usea
strengthened I nternational Sustainable Development Governance
context to improveinteractionswith the multilateral trade and finance
institutions; maintain the Commission on Sustainable Development
(CSD) asthe main forum for high-level policy debate on sustainable
development; and review the CSD in the context of the WSSD prepa-
ratory process (UNGA Resolution A/55/199). He said the reasonsfor
current weaknessesin |EG are not necessarily institutional, but rather a
lack of political will, particularly on the part of developed countries.
The G-77/Chinaproposed the creation, under UNEP, of an intergov-
ernmental expert body on thetransfer of environmentally sustainable
technologies (ESTs) and anincreasein UNEP financial resources
without imposing afurther burden on developing countries, but
rejected argumentsfor the creation of anew institution. He supported
further study of the feasibility of MEA clustering, called for arolefor
UNEPinthe GEF and said aproposal to enhancetheroleand authority
of the GMEF to act as an “umbrellaenvironmental policy forum” is
too ambitious.

Belgium, on behalf of the European Union (EU), said the European
Council had identified IEG asapriority issuein the pursuit of sustain-
able development at the global level. She said: al countries should
participate on an equal basisinthe IEG system; theinstitutional archi-
tecture for |EG should have sufficient capacity, authority and credi-
bility to address environmental threatsin aglobalizing world; EU
member Stateswould increasetheir ODA levelsto 0.7% of GNP by
the 2002 WSSD, and called on other partnersto reciprocate; and added
that the proposal s contained in the“ building blocks” document formed
agood basisfor dialogue. In response to comments at the close of the
discussion, she urged delegatesto respond to the proposalsin the text,
not to what they imagined could be behind the proposals.

Algeriacalled for astructurethat can improvethe state and future
of the environment, with greater participation of all on ajust and equi-
tablebasis.

Switzerland supported Chair Anderson’s“building blocks’ paper,
in particular hisconcern for coherencein IEG through astrengthened
political leadership role for the GMEF and stable funding for UNEP.
Hesaid a strengthened EM G, operating within the UN system, could
reflect thelegitimate desire of the G-77/Chinato develop |EG within
the context of sustainable development. The Republic of Koreasaid
the“building blocks” proposalsarein linewith an evolutionary
process and provide agood basisfor dialogue, but he expressed reser-
vations about the GMEF proposals.

The Russian Federation urged caution in addressing |EG and
supported an evol utionary approach to change, with UNEP adopting a
roleasaworld environmental agency. Hesaid UNEP does not yet have
sufficient financial reservesto pursueitsrole asacatalyst for interna-
tional environmental action.

France expressed the hope that the WSSD will be adecisive step
towardsthe creation of asingle world environmental organization
(WEO) and supported additional resource allocationsfor UNEPR,
possibly using the UN scal e of assessmentsto support the current
Environment Fund and voluntary contributionsfor other UNEP activi-
ties.

Germany said strengthening UNEP should be based on an assess-
ment of the anti cipated needsto address future environment threats. He
said the WSSD would lead to the upgrading of UNEP in Nairobi into a
WEDO. Citing the goal of upgrading the environment issuein the UN,
particularly in light of globalization, he called for stable and predict-
ablefinancing for UNEP and said the GM EF should have greater
weight in general environmental policy.

Chinaunderscored theimportance of |EG implementation at the
national level, discussed the differing environmental preoccupations
of regions at different stages of development, and reiterated the G-77/
Chinareluctanceto create new |EG ingtitutions.

Tunisiastressed theimportance of regional environmental instru-
mentsin the context of IEG.

Oningtitutional infrastructure, Bangladesh supported: an evolu-
tionary and incremental approach; clustering of MEAs on the basis of
issues and functionsthat offer prospectsfor cooperation and synergy;
co-location of Secretariats; the need to strengthen the EMG; and the
need to clarify the relationship between UNEP and the GEF, and
between UNEP and other environmental financing mechanisms. He
said | EG reform and revitalization can only benefit sustainable devel -
opment by addressing emergency response concerns.



Wednesday, 12 September 2001

Vol. 16 No. 18 Page 4

The Czech Republic said the GM EF had proven to be a useful
high-level palitical forum to discuss environmental problems, and
could be strengthened further by: concentrating more oninter-linkages
between the environment, economy and social development; and
inviting the highest placed representatives of specific sectoral areasto
GMEF meetings. He proposed universal membership of the GMEF.

Indonesiacalled for careful consideration of thelegal status of the
GMEF and supported the strengthening of funding for UNEP, taking
into account the principles of common but differentiated responsibili-
tiesand polluter pays.

South Africasaid the outcomes of the IEG deliberations must be a
key component of the WSSD in Johannesburg and announced that
South Africawould use the WSSD to call for aglobal compact
between governments, the private sector and civil society. Hesaid a
key areato be addressed in | EG isthe strengthening of political leader-
ship, specifically astrengthened GMEF. He also called for astronger
UNEP, with an improved funding base, arationalized approach to
MEAs, and arolefor the GMEF in defining the criteriaand rulesfor
GEFfunding.

With Guinea and South Africa, Ugandacalled for afocuson the
eradication or reduction of poverty, and also called for the strength-
ening of UNEP. Guineaal so proposed supporting investment and
resource development in African countries.

Chile, Rwanda, and the Netherlands al so supported combating
poverty. Mauritius said the best method to combat poverty isto support
trade.

Norway said the key challenge isto mainstream environment
concernsinto development so that market forceswork in favor of
poverty eradication proposals. She called for: capacity building, tech-
nology transfer and financial strategies, CSO participation; and ahigh-
level scientific and technology body for UNEP. She added that the
design of asystem to shareresponsibilitieswould influence Norway’s
attitude to future contributionsto UNEP, and supported the creation of
arolefor an environmental ombudsperson.

Pal estine proposed the establishment of an international environ-
mental court, outlined the efforts of the Palestinian Authority to protect
the environment, and said I srael had bombed the Ministry of Environ-
ment building in Ramallah.

Iraq drew attention to the effects of depleted uranium used during
the Gulf war.

While commending effortsto raisefinancial resourcesfrom private
and civil society sectors, Senegal said that UNEP could hel p ensurethe
coherence and implementation of MEA sthrough clustering.

Mexico proposed aflexible, coordinated, decentralized IEG
system, with clustering starting at the national level, and continuing at
theregional and international levels; and animproved | EG setting with
clear rolesfor the GMEF. He also supported amulti-annual contribu-
tion for UNEP based on the UN scale of assessed contributions.

Egypt said she was open to interim consideration of an agreed non-
binding scal e of assessmentsfor UNEP financing, taking account of
common but differentiated responsibilities. She cautioned against
making an environmental ministers’ forum the main coordinating
body for MEAS.

Kenyasaid governments should be the main financiers of UNEP.
Acknowledging UNEP' sfinancial challenge, Pakistan said that no
increased burden should be placed on developing countries.

Japan said the GMEF could play aleading rolein deepening
discussion on the major environmental issues of the 21st century. On
funding for UNEP, he supported an improvement of the existing
system of voluntary contributions. He also supported a case-by-case
approach to clustering of MEAs and optimizing the use of existing
resources.

Argentina said globalization was perhaps not sustainable. He said
concerns about IEG may have been caused by alack of integration of
environmental considerationsin national policy, and added that
governments, not international bureaucracy, had the principle respon-
sibility for governance. He stated that clustering of issuesisgaining
acceptance, particularly inrelation to the MEA secretariatsthat are
linked to UNEP, and could betested on apilot basis.

Indiasaid that |EG should be viewed in the broader context of
governance, particularly the three pillars of sustainable development.
On strengthening integration with existing financial, trade, devel op-
ment and technical organizations, he said the WTO had sufficient
capacity to take up theseissues, and expressed astrong reservation on
the proposal to create a WEO. With Malawi, he was supportive of
strengthening UNEP and maintaining itslocation in Nairobi. He said
the GM EF had given UNEP some palitical authority and should
remain apolitical forum for coordination of environment and devel op-
ment issues at theinternational level, but opposed aGMEF rolein
formulating policieson cross-sectoral issues, since this could interfere
with other institutions. He proposed clustering M EAs along functional
and sectoral lines, only on acase-by-casebasis.

Expressing his appreciation for the paper on harmonization of
national reporting (UNEP/IGM/3/CRP.2), the United States said the
paper provided arigorous assessment of environmental governance,
and noted that the systemitself isnot soill, but is self-correcting, since
the MEAs have already begun to addressinconsistencies.

Stating that effective political will must be accompanied by
rigorous analyses, Australiasaid proper political analyses should
precede solutions.

Morocco noted that the main gap in implementation rel atesto the
commitments made and actionsyet to be taken.

On behalf of the African Ministerial Conference on the Environ-
ment (AMCEN), Nigeriacalled for one policy forum, such as GMEF,
with cross-cutting roles and acloser rel ationship with the GEF.

UNDP supported: astrengthened | EG system; a strengthened
UNEP with sufficient resources; and an extension of the |EG debateto
include other ministers, and stakeholders at the national and regional
levels.

The World Meteorological Organization suggested that proposals
to strengthen UNEP's capacity on early warning and monitoring
systemswill require elaboration because anumber of agenciesare
aready involved in such activities.

Chair Anderson thanked all the participants and invited M oderator
Estradato present asynthesisof the pointsraised during the Plenary. In
hissummary, Estrada noted, inter alia:

« Commentshby the President of Algeriaon linkagesbetweenthe
environment and poverty, specifically theneed to promote an
equitabledistribution of income;

* Thegeneral welcomegivento Chair Anderson’s” building
blocks” paper and the UNEP Executive Director’sreport;



Vol. 16 No. 18 Page 5

Wednesday, 12 September 2001

 Acceptanceof Chair Anderson’s suggestion that deliberations
continue on the basis of aframework text to be fine-tuned during
theinter-sessional period,;

 Concernthat environmental mattersbediscussed in connection
with sustai nable devel opment;

« Acknowledgement that IEG isrelated to the political will tofulfill
commitmentsfrom UNCED;

» Theemphasisplaced ontheWTO'srules,

« Agreement on strengthening UNEP and providing the organi-
zation with adequate, stableand predictable funding, and strength-
eningUNEPin GEF;

« Theneedto optimizetheutilization of existing institutions;

« Commentson relations between the UNEP Governing Council,
the CSD and GMEF;

« Commentson clustering, including proposal sfor apilot project;

» Discussiononthe EMG; and

« Discussion onthe GEF, including suggestionsthat new areasbe
included under itsdominion, with faster proceduresto satisfy
needs.

Chair Anderson proposed that the pointsin Estrada’s summary be
taken asabasisfor working group discussions on specific optionsfor
strengthening international environmental governance. In responseto
aUSrequest for clarification of the procedures, Chair Anderson
expressed the hope that the discussions would inform preparationsfor
IGM-4, when amoreformal text could be considered. Heinvited
participantsto consider submitting awritten version of their proposals
and responses.

WORKING GROUP |

Mohammed Vali M oosa (South Africa) convened Working Group |
on Monday morning, 10 September, for a discussion based on two of
thethemesin Chair Anderson’s* building blocks’ document, namely
improving coherencein policy making —the role and structure of the
GMEF, and strengthening the role, authority, and financial situation of
UNEP. He explained that the intention of theworking group wasto
inform the preparation of specific proposalsto betabled at IGM-4, in
Montreal, in December 2001, and that the Executive Director of UNEP
and the IGM Chair would prepare these proposals.

The G-77/Chinaasked that both the “ building blocks” document
and the Executive Director’srevised Report on |EG be used asthe
basisfor discussion. Supported by Canadaand Norway, he also
proposed the addition and consideration of new “building blocks” on
sustai nable devel opment and on technology cooperation, technology
transfer, capacity building and finance. The EU agreed that IEG must
be viewed within the context of sustainabl e devel opment.

GENERAL DISCUSSION: TheG-77/Chinacalled for an evolu-
tionary processwithout eroding structures such asthe Commission on
Sustainable Development (CSD).

The EU also supported an evol utionary approach and said the IEG
system must have participation on an equal basis, and must possessthe
capacity, authority and credibility to address awide range of environ-
mental issues.

South Africarecalled that the original impetus behind the IEG
debate was the need to enhance devel oping country participation. He
called for amechanismto link Conferences of the Parties (COPs) and
Meetings of the Parties (MOPs), with the GM EF serving asan over-
arching political vehicle.

GMEF: TheG-77/Chinacalled for clarification of : therole(s) of
the UNEP Governing Council and the GMEF; the implications of
universal membership of the GMEF; and the GMEF'slegal relation-
ship with COPs. He suggested athree-fold role for the GMEF, serving
as: aglobal forum for dialogue; a source of advice and guidance to
COPs; and as aninstrument for coordination. Egypt and Indonesia
echoed the G-77/China’s concerns about implicationsfor the CSD.

South Africacalled for apilot phase in which anumber of COPs/
M OPs could be convened during an annual week-long meeting of the
GMEF, with ministerial participation from, inter alia, agricultureand
energy ministries. The EU said it was essential to have adiscussion on
the GMEF srolein providing political guidance on |EG, promoting
synergies and addressing questions of implementation and prioritiza-
tion of issues at international, regional and national levels.

Switzerland said the question facing participants was “How much
authority arewewilling to givethe GMEF?" Canada proposed three
possibleareas of work for the GM EF: identification of policy priorities
based on the UNEP GEO reports; scientific assessment; and guidance
on implementation priorities based on areview of MEA activities.
Norway said hewould elaborate a proposal for the creation of an
ombudsperson.

GMEF AND GOVERNING COUNCIL RELATIONSHIP:
The EU supported a separation of the GMEF and UNEP Governing
Council, with the GM EF serving as the authoritative body providing
guidanceto various agencies, and with universal membership. He said
he was also prepared to ook at optionsfor universal membership of
the Governing Council. The Republic of Koreasaid that the G-77/
Chinawould resist the separation of the GM EF from the Governing
Council and cautioned that Partiesto MEASs could not be bound by
GMEF decisions. Bangladesh said he could not envisagethe GMEF as
aseparate body.

Colombiacalled for clarification of thelegal status of the GMEF
and for morework on theinterpretation of its UNGA mandatein Reso-
lution 53/242. Norway highlighted the need for aclearer distinction
between the GM EF and Governing Council. He suggested that the
GMEF should receivereports from the EM G, and these should also go
tothe CSD.

UNEP’SSTATUS: The G-77/Chinasupported deferral of the
question of UNEP stransformation into aspecialized agency. Canada
argued that specialized agency status could break the logjamsfacing
UNEP.

FINANCE: The G-77/Chinasupported strengthening thelinks
between the GEF and UNEP. The Czech Republic, noting UNEP'srole
as an implementing agency of the GEF, urged UNEP to adopt amore
aggressiverolein defining funding priorities. South Africasaid the
GMEF must be ableto take the political lead in therelationship with
the GEF. The EU also said the GMEF could provide guidanceto the
GEF on priorities.

On financing UNEP, the G-77/Chinaunderlined the importance of
common but differentiated responsibilities asaguiding principle and
suggested that the UN address UNEP’s requirement for additional
administrative costs, with operational finances supplied by devel oped
countries. With support from Canadaand Switzerland, the G-77/China
called onthe UNEP Secretariat to outline the implications of various
optionsfor financing UNEP. With the United States and the Republic
of Korea, he ruled out mandatory financing. Canadaproposed a



Wednesday, 12 September 2001

Vol. 16 No. 18 Page 6

middle-way between voluntary and mandatory assessed contributions,
such asatailor-made assessed scal e with voluntary contributions and
appropriate burden sharing.

Norway cautioned that asystem of voluntary assessed contribu-
tions could have implications because his country already contributes
at alevel abovethe UN assessment. Colombiaand Japan drew atten-
tionto UNEP s effortsto raise finances from the private sector.

The EU proposed consideration of negotiated multi-annual agree-
ments on financing UNER, assessments linked to programme activi-
ties, and he undertook to support effortsto make UNEP s budget more
stable and predictable. South Africainsisted that participants put
substance behind their commitment to strengthening the predictability
of UNEP sfinances.

PROPOSAL FROM THE CHAIR ON THE GMEF: Chair
Moosaoutlined apossible approach to the GMEF, including the
following elements:

« Nochangeinthelega statusof MEAS;

« Changeinthe management and administration of MEAS;

* GMEFtoact asaforum for decisionson MEA coordination and
clustering;

« GMEFtoengageinbroad palitical discussion but making no
binding decisionsfor other governing bodies;

« GMEFto constituteitself asthegoverning body for oneor more

MEAsonavoluntary and evolutionary basis; and

« Fecilitation of high-level ministerial representation at all

meetings.

Chair M oosathanked participants for their contributionsand
announced that he would present asummary of the Group’sdelibera-
tionsin the afternoon at the reconvened Plenary.

WORKING GROUP ||

Working Group Il met in amorning session on Monday, 10
September, and considered two “building blocks’ in Chair Anderson’s
document, which deal with improved coordination and coherence
between MEAS, and therole of the EM G in enhancing coordination
across the United Nations system. Working Group Chair Philippe
Roch (Switzerland) outlined the proposal s contained in the paper and
invited delegates’ comments.

IMPROVED COORDINATION AND COHERENCE
BETWEEN MEAs: Thediscussion focussed on therole of the
GMEF, financing, and how to cluster MEAs. The EU, Norway and
others supported G-77/Chinaproposalsto add new building blocksfor
consideration on: technology transfer and capacity building; financing
of UNEP and the | EG; and setting the IEG debate within the context of
sustainable devel opment.

CLUSTERING OF MEAS: TheG-77/Chinastressed the need for
coherence and coordination of MEAS, but noted that MEAs are
constrained by their legal autonomy. He expressed a preference for
issue-based clustering and proposed the pilot clustering of alimited
number of MEASs. He urged UNEP to seek the agreement of MEA
bodiesonits proposed rolein MEA coordination.

The EU said the objectives of improving coherence and coordina-
tion wereaimed at: achieving efficiency in MEAS; enhancing partici-
pation at meetings; and reducing reporting and implementation
burdens. He supported sectoral and functional clustering. Norway
envisioned three challengesfor coordination and coherence of MEAS:
avoiding conflicts; achieving their untapped potential ; and addressing

their shortcomingsin compliance and implementation. The UK noted
that existing memoranda of understanding between M EA bodiescould
be considered an approach to clustering.

CITES said that: coordination and coherence must go beyond
working with MEAs; the emergence of issuesis unpredictable, thus
posing difficultiesfor pre-defining work on coordination; thereis
potential for coordination of capacity building; and that competition
over resources among agenciesisareality. Hedrew attention to the
need for national-level coordination and requested that UNEP orga-
nize ameeting of the heads of Conventions and establish a clearing-
housefor information on meetings. The [lUCN suggested linking MEA
coordination to resource allocation.

Stressing the need to understand where inconsi stencies and inco-
herenciesactually exist, the US, with Switzerland and India, noted that
thereisno support for the creation of anew institution. With Poland, he
supported aproposal to pilot clustering. The UK sought clarification
regarding the timeframe for such apilot phase.

Inresponseto aUSinquiry regarding inconsistencies across
MEAsS, the G-77/Chinadrew his attention to the Executive Director’s
Report. UNEP also drew attention to reportsit circulated at IGM-2,
following consultations with 20 secretariats on issues such asinconsis-
tencies, overlaps and opportunities, adding that in responseto similar
questionsraised by the Nairobi CPR, UNEP was preparing apaper that
it could also circulate at the IGM-4.

GMEF: The EU said the GMEF should have political authority.
Concurring, Norway said the GM EF should oversee the whol e process
of coordination and coherence. Canada said the GM EF might be the
place for coordination and coherence on crosscutting i ssues such as
science, policy assessments, indicators, and on apilot initiative on
national reporting.

The US pressed for clarification of therole of the GMEF withinits
present mandate, as set out in paragraph 9(a) of UNGA Resolution 53/
242,

Noting that non-members of UNEP may not attend the GMEF,
Poland proposed universal membership. The WM O noted a difficulty
withthereferenceto “policy guidance” from the GMEF and supported
aG-77/Chinaproposal for consultations between UNEP and MEAS.

FINANCING: The G-77/Chinaacknowledged the need for stable
financing for UNEP and suggested separating the operational and
administrative costs. With the US, he opposed aproposal on an
assessed contributions approach. The EU said the financing issues go
beyond concerns about UNEP.

ENHANCED COORDINATIONACROSSTHE UN SYSTEM
—THE ROLE OF EMG: The G-77/Chinanoted problemswith trans-
parency inthe EM G deliberations and reporting procedures, and the
need for information sharing with member States. With Norway, he
said the EMG’srole had not been fully exploited. He proposed that the
EMG could report in an advisory capacity to either the GMEF or CSD.
The EU concurred with the G-77/Chinaonthe EMG'sroleand
reporting to the GMEF. He called for high-level representationin the
EMG and proposed that the EM G should bring together all institutions
with an environmental remit. Norway said the GMEF could provide
policy guidanceto the EMG, whilethe US said he could only support
strengthening the EM G within the provisions of UNGA resol ution 53/
242,

Noting that discussion had been direct and concrete, Chair Roch
highlighted the areas of convergence and divergence:



Vol. 16 No. 18 Page 7

Wednesday, 12 September 2001

 aconsensuswasreached on the need to: improvethe IEG system
without creating new bodies or bureaucracy; improvetrans-
parency and cooperation; strengthen the linkage between
environment and sustai nable devel opment by mainstreaming the
environment in devel opment and vice versa; and develop apilot
project on clustering that isopen and dynamic;

« recognition of the policy-guiding role of environment ministersin
order to have an overarching view of what ishappening and give
adviceonimproving thefunctioning of the |EG system;

« thepresent EM G mandate might be sufficient, but thereisneedto
fulfill and enhanceitsrelationship with GMEF and other struc-
tures; and,

« agreement toincludeinthe*building blocks’ document, thelink
between the environment and devel opment, transfer of technology
and capacity building, and finance, whichisnot well developedin
the Chair’sbuilding blocks, adding that thereisapossibility to
hold ashort meeting on finance before Montreal.

PLENARY

At the opening of the reconvened Plenary session on Monday after-
noon, 10 September, the League of Arab States said many people till
suffer human and environmental problemsand are placing great hopes
inthe |GM meeting.

Chair Andersoninvited the working groupsto present their reports.

REPORTSOF THE WORKING GROUPS: Presenting the
report of Working Group |, Chair M oosa noted general support for
consideration of Chair Anderson’s“building blocks” together with the
additional proposals put forward by the G-77/China.

He summarized the main outcomes:

* GMEFto becomethe cornerstone of |EG;

 GMEFtoact asaglobal forumfor policy coordination and
political guidanceto various COPs;

« UNEPand GMEF to adopt an enhanced scientificrole;

 Greater coherenceto be established in relations between the
GMEF, UNEP, and the CSD and with various COPs, the EM G and
other bodies;

« TheGMEFto eventually serveasthefocal point for the coordi-
nation of various M EAsby providing an opportunity for the COPs
to meet back-to-back with the GMEF, especially those COPs
whose membership coincideswith that of the GMEF;

e TheGMEF'srolewill not prejudicethelegal statusof MEAS;

 Certain matters, such asthevenuefor the GM EF meetings, will
not require adecision at thisstage;

« Consensuson the need to strengthen UNEP and focus on
functions, such asassessment and early warning functionsand
partnerships;

« Ontheneedfor stable, adequate and predictablefunding, a
number of optionswere discussed, including: (a) voluntary contri-
butions, for which therewaslittle support; (b) acombination of
voluntary and assessed contributions; and (c) splitting adminis-
trative and operational costswherethe administrative costswould
bemet by the UN regular budget and operational or programmatic
costswould be borne largely by devel oped countries. These
optionsareto befurther elaborated; and

« Participantsgenerally stated that relations between the GEF and
GMEF need to be strengthened.

On procedural steps, Working Group | participants agreed that:

» ThePresident of the UNEP Governing Council and UNEP's

Executive Director should revisetheir documents;

* AtIGM-4, the President of the Governing Council and the UNEP
Secretariat should present: (a) adraft consensus or negotiating text
with annexes addressing key issuesrai sed; and (b) annexeson
detailsand implicationsfor each of the options, particularly on
financeand theterms of reference and modalitiesfor a
strengthened GMEF.

India, on behalf of the G-77/China, underlined the need for a
UNEP paper on the implications of the financing optionsand for
further clarification of the status of the UNEP Governing Council and
the GMEF. The EU, supported by Norway, underscored the impor-
tance of implementation and proposed arolefor the GMEF in moni-
toring targets. Canada, supported by Norway, recommended that
countriestake on some of the preparation of analytical work during the
inter-sessional period.

Presenting the Report from Working Group |1, Rapporteur Richard
Ballhorn (Canada) noted that discussion had focused on improving
MEA coordination and coherence, that finance i ssues had been raised
in the discussion under both issues, and that only 20 minuteswere
dedicated to discussion of the EMG’srole. He reported consensus on:

« new proposalsfor “building block” themes;

« theneed for more cooperation between MEAS, including
clustering at thefunctional level, adopting complianceand
capacity building asmedium termissues, and considering
programmatic clustering asanimmediateissuewith apilot-phase
clustering of four chemicals' agreements;

« potential for clustering on regional seasand M EA secretariats;

« theneedfor UNEPto present itswork onthe coherence of MEAS
at |GM-4 and to continue studying other optionsfor clustering;

« theneedtoimprovecoherenceat national andregional levels;

« financing asanissuethat goesbeyond the | EG process,

« theneedfor enhanced financing for UNEP; and

« theneed to distinguish between therolesand functions of the
GMEF and the UNEP Governing Council.

The Group al so agreed that the EM G should: be strengthened
becauseitsfull potential asreflected in resolution 53/242 has not yet
been realized; reflect the three dimensions of sustainable development;
be more transparent; and should provideinformation onitsactivitiesto
the GMEF.

Responding to the summary, the G-77/China: emphasized the need
torecognizetherole of the CSD asthe high-level policy body of the
UN on sustainabl e devel opment, in accordance with GA resolution 53/
242 and that the GM EF input to the MEAs must be advisory. This
advice could addressinter-linkages or crosscutting issues, but should
not be policy advice.

The EU highlighted its priorities: apilot project on MEA clus-
tering; areport from UNEP on functional clustering; acknowledge-
ment that regional clustering isaready happening; and the need for
high-level executive representationinthe EMG.

Canadasaid that heavy institutional structuresshould beavoidedin
coordination of MEAs. UNEP Executive Director Klaus Topfer said
he had expected the meeting to be difficult and paid tributeto Chair
Anderson’s“building blocks,” which had facilitated the deliberations.
He welcomed the integration of environment and development
aspects, the position papers prepared by various stakeholders and the
proposal to link environment to poverty. Topfer said he had also
learned that the information provided on the weaknesses of |EG had
not been sufficient, there was aneed for more clarification on the



Wednesday, 12 September 2001

Vol. 16 No. 18 Page 8

GMEF and EMG, and that environmental governance should be
emphasized at the national level. He noted the information requests
made to UNEP, and expressed histhanksto ministers, delegates, the
Government of Algeria, and session Chairsfor their contributions.

The reports were adopted without objection.

NEXT STEPS: Explaining the next stepsin the |EG deliberations,
Chair Anderson said the UNEP Executive Director will incorporate
participants’ viewsin arevision of hisReport on |EG and a summary
of themain pointswill be distributed. Chair Anderson will present a
refined proposal to IGM-4in Montreal, Canada, on 1 December, to
launch thefinal stageinthe IGM process. During theintersessional
period, hewill undertake informal consultationswith regional groups
and others. Written submissionsto the processwill also be circul ated.
The United States, supported by Egypt, asked Chair Andersonto circu-
late hisrefined proposal ahead of IGM-4. The L eague of Arab States
requested adeferral of IGM-4 to take account of Ramadan.

No participantsraised Other Matters under Agendaltem 5, and
Anderson proceeded to the closure of the meeting under Agenda ltem
6. He described the two days of deliberations as productive and
expressed hisgratitudeto all the participants.

CLOSING PLENARY

After ashort adjournment, Chair Anderson called the closing
Plenary session to order at 5:35 pm. He noted that the presence of
Algeria'sPrime Minister, aday after the President’s participation, indi-
cated theimportance Algeriaattached to the IGM. He said the meeting
had advanced the IGM work, acknowledged a spirit of ownership of
thisprocessby del egates, expressed confidence about the possibility to
conclude thework on | EG at the Governing Council session and noted
that regional groups had comewith open and constructive perspectives
and that substantive work had been undertaken.

Algerian PrimeMinister Ali Benflis noted shortcomingsin envi-
ronmental governance and said he was confident that constructive
debate had improved the quality of discussion. He stated that environ-
mental protection requires additional financing, drew attention to the
need to improve UNEP sfinancial base and expressed hope that the
conclusionsreached oninstitutional issueswould result in revitalizing
action on the global environment.

UNEP Executive Director Klaus Topfer noted that the atmosphere
of hospitality demonstrated by Algeriahad stimulated the meeting’s
SUCCESS.

Chair Anderson closed the meeting at 5.55 pm.

A BRIEF ANALYSISOF IGM-3

WE HAVE A SOLUTION, NOW WHAT’'S THE PROBLEM?

Participants departed from | GM-3 with a sense of achievement
from a session that many had expected to be steeped in contention
arising from differences within and between regional groupings, and
among the UN bureaucracies. Inthe end, participants reported that the
pre-negotiation session had begun to prepare the ground and clarify the
issuesfor acritical fourth meeting of the IGM dated for early
December 2001 in Montreal.

Thisanaysiswill briefly examine some of thedynamicsat work in
the IGM-3 discussions and identify some of the key areaswhere differ-
enceswere narrowed and i ssues emerged.

FINDING THE MIDDLE GROUND: Participantsin IGM-3
found themselves charting the seas between the shores of institutional
proliferation and adearth of political will. Somearrivedin Algeria
prepared to tackle the infrastructure of international environmental
governancewith afull repair kit. Others seemed to take offense at
“pejorative’ referencesto fragmentationin theinternational system of
environmental governance. Thus, it waswith some satisfaction that
the US pointed out at the close of the meeting that other participants
werefinally coming round to the view that there were more solutions
on the table than well-defined problems. Others consistently named a
lack of political leadership and political will asthe underlying problem
that dare not speak their name.

Participants reported progress on content aided by the process. On
the issues, devel oping countries succeeded in adding new “ building
blocks” — capacity building and technology transfer, and finance, and
embedding sustainable devel opment as the context of IEG —to the set
of issuesidentified by Anderson for consideration. There were mixed
fortunesfor other proposals: attemptsto kick the question of special-
ized statusfor UNEPinto thelong grassfor consideration in thefuture
appeared successful; the concept of clustering received aboost with
emerging agreement on apilot phase, based on the four chemicals
agreements, namely the Rotterdam Convention (PIC), the Stockholm
Convention (POPs), the Basel Convention (hazardous wastes) and the
Montreal Protocol (ozone); and devel oping countries hitched the
exploration of optionsfor more effective funding of UNEPto common
but differentiated responsibilities.

Momentum was established by the high-level participation and
competent facilitation of the process by UNEP officersand political
representatives such as Canada's Environment Minister, David
Anderson, intherole of President of the UNEP Governing Council.
Preparations at the regional level also contributed to aswift identifica
tion of issues. Inputsfrom UNEP's Executive Director, Klaus Topfer,
notably his“ questionnaire,” prompted afocused engagement by key
players.

UNFINISHED BUSINESS: A seriesof critical decisionswill
haveto be negotiated, particularly around an enhanced status for the
UNEP Governing Council/GM EF when negotiators are equipped with
documents setting out theimplicationsfor relations with the MEA
bodies, the GEF, the CSD and other UN bodies. What a so emerged
from IGM-3 was a consensus that participants had not yet reached a
common understanding of the level and character of improvements
required to enhance IEG. While the presence of representativesfrom
capitalsand permanent representatives from New York, Nairobi and
Bonn seemed to ensurethat all perspectiveswere clearly articulated, it
remainsto be seen how deeply the disagreements run. Participants
agreed that more “ homework” would have to be done by Tépfer and
his colleagues before the proffered solutions can convince everyone
(or almost everyone) that the problems have been correctly identified.
Moreover, the ambition of the solutions, for example, the authority to
be bestowed onthe GMEF, will haveto bedelicately crafted and care-
fully pitched, given the need to avoid any attempt to interfere with
commitments already enshrined ininternational environmental law.

The quality of responsesto any question isawaysareflection of
the effort and integrity of the process that has been invested in posing
the question. Theissue of who getsto frame the solutions (and subse-
quently theleading questions) also has an impact on how these are
received by others. Within aUN system where the institutional compe-



Vol. 16 No. 18 Page 9

Wednesday, 12 September 2001

tition for scarce resourcesimpactsvirtually all activity, UNEP must
convince skepticsthat the IEG agendahas an integrity and purpose,
whichisnot entirely driven by the Programme’s own ambitions.

Yet, likeatravel er through space who usesthe gravity of aplanet to
gather momentum, champions of UNEP and an incremental devel op-
ment of akey rolefor the Governing Council/Global Ministerial Envi-
ronmental Forum havetimed their initiative well. They will tap into
the groundswell of political leverage availablein the run up to the
WSSD to create an authoritative platform for environmental gover-
nanceinthe UN system —with enhanced commitmentsto funding
activities such as scientific assessment and monitoring. The experi-
enceat IGM-3, however, demonstrated that the | EG agenda has not yet
escaped the gravitational pull of demands by many devel oping coun-
triesstill pressing for delivery on all three strands of sustainable devel-
opment.

Some negotiators reach acrossroads and amoment of decision.
Othersreturn, time and time again, to aroundabout. Therewere signs
at IGM-3 that the |EG debate may yet be haunted by the still unre-
solved tensions at the heart of theinternational community’s attempts
to develop acommon commitment to the three pillars of sustainable
development. Asone participant noted, in passing, the questionsare
not all technical; indeed there remains only one overriding question for
some: “Who isgoingto foot the bill?’

South Africa, the hosts of the forthcoming WSSD, injected some
balance and pragmatism into this debate by using the opportunity of
IGM-3 to set out thewider ambitionsfor atruly comprehensive set of
objectivesin Johannesburg. Whilethe |EG isexpected to be akey
consideration it will sit alongside other key objectives of developing
countries since 1992, including aresuscitation of attemptstoforgea
“Global Compact” to address global poverty and inequality asakey
challenge of sustainable devel opment implementation. The WSSD
will al'so be used to sustain the momentum behind the Millennium
Declaration targets. Already there areindicationsfrom European
Union membersthat the new GEF repl enishment round and ODA
commitmentswill be used to demonstrate good faith on the economic
and social dimensions of sustainable development.

WHERE DO WE GO FROM HERE? With one day set asidefor
IGM-4in Montreal, and three monthsto activate the chemical s pil ot-
clustering, somewill view any expectation that negotiations can make
substantial progressin timefor the Seventh Special Session of the
UNEP Governing Council/GMEF in February 2001 as ambitious.
Chair Anderson’sinter-sessional consultationswith regional groups
and otherswill becritical, together with new studiesto be circulated by
the UNEP Secretariat and participating countries. Anderson has been
asked to circulate hisframework negotiating text ahead of IGM-4 to
providetimefor the preparation of considered responses. The urgency
to make substantive progressin Montreal for successin Colombiais
real and may just do thetrick in order to steer clear of apotential two-
day consultation on the |EG prior to the WSSD PrepCom in New York
in January-February 2002, due to awidely-held perception that
progress may be stalled or undonein New York.

THINGSTO LOOK FOR BEFORE THE WORLD
SUMMIT ON SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

FOURTH MEETING OF THE OPEN-ENDED INTER-
GOVERNMENTAL GROUP OF MINISTERSOR THEIR
REPRESENTATIVESON INTERNATIONAL ENVIRON-

MENTAL GOVERNANCE: Thisone-day meetingwill beheld on 1
December 2001, in Montreal, Canada, immediately followingaUNEP
meeting. Del egates are expected to begin, and possibly conclude,
negotiations on international environmental governance. For more
information, contact: Bakary Kante, Director, Division of Policy
Development and Law, UNEP; tel: +254-2-624065; fax: +254-2-
622788; Internet: http://www.unep.org/|EG/; e-mail
bakary.kante@unep.org; or MasaNagai; tel: +254-2-623493; e-mail:
masa.nagal @unep.org; I nternet: http://www.unep.org/| EG/

GMEF/SEVENTH SPECIAL SESSION OF THE UNEP
GOVERNING COUNCIL: Thismeeting is scheduled to take place
from 13-18 February 2002, in Cartagena, Colombia. It will consider
the IGM recommendations made on the | EG, including their possible
transmission to the preparatory process of the World Summit on
Sustainable devel opment. For more information, contact: Bakary
Kante, Director, Division of Policy Development and Law, UNEP; tel:
+254-2-624065; fax: +254-2-622788; e-mail:
bakary.kante@unep.org; Internet: http://www.unep.org/IEG/

SECOND PREPARATORY SESSION FOR THE 2002
WORLD SUMMIT ON SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT: This
meeting will take place from 28 January - 8 February 2002, at UN
Headquartersin New York. It will review the results of national and
regional preparatory processes, examine the main policy report of the
UN Secretary-General, and convene a M ulti-stakeholder Dial ogue.
For moreinformation, contact: Andrey Vasilyev, DESA; tel: +1-212-
963-5949; fax: +1-212-963-4260; e-mail: vasilyev@un.org; I nternet:
http://www.johannesburgsummit.org/; Major groups contact: Zehra
Aydin-Sipos, DESA; tel: +1-212-963-8811; fax: +1-212-963-1267; e
mail: aydin@un.org.

THIRD PREPARATORY SESSION FOR THE 2002 WORLD
SUMMIT ON SUSTAINABLE DEVEL OPMENT: Thismeeting
will take place at UN Headquartersin New York, from 25 March - 5
April 2002. It isexpected to produce thefirst draft of a"review" docu-
ment and el ements of the future work programme of the CSD. For
moreinformation, contact: Andrey Vasilyev, DESA; tel: +1-212-963-
5949; fax: +1-212-963-4260; e-mail: vasilyev@un.org; Internet: http:/
/www.johannesburgsummit.org/; Major groups contact: Zehra Aydin-
Sipos, DESA; tel: +1-212-963-8811; fax: +1-212-963-1267; e-mail:
aydin@un.org.

FOURTH PREPARATORY SESSION FOR THE 2002
WORLD SUMMIT ON SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT: This
meeting is scheduled to take place from 27 May - 7 June 2002, in I ndo-
nesia. It will include Ministerial and Multi-stakehol der Dialogue
Segments, and is expected to result in elementsfor aconcise political
document to be submitted to the WSSD Summit. For moreinforma-
tion, contact: Andrey Vasilyev, DESA, New York; tel: +1-212-963-
5949; fax: +1-212-963-4260; e-mail: vasilyev@un.org; Internet: http:/
/www.johannesburgsummit.org/; Major groups contact: Zehra Aydin-
Sipos, DESA; tel: +1-212-963-8811; fax: +1-212-963-1267; e-mail:
aydin@un.org.

WORLD SUMMIT ON SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT:
The World Summit on Sustainable Devel opment will take placein
Johannesburg, South Africa, from 2-11 September 2002. For more
information, contact: Andrey Vasilyev, DESA, New York; tel: +1-212-
963-5949; fax: +1-212-963-4260; e-mail: vasilyev@un.org; Internet:
http://www.johannesburgsummit.org/; Major groups contact: Zehra
Aydin-Sipos, DESA; tel: +1-212-963-8811; fax: +1-212-963-1267; e-
mail: aydin@un.org.



